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LEWISA. KAPLAN, District Judge.

This putative class action concermgortgage pass-through certificates (the
“Certificates”) issued by IndyMac MBS, Inc.l{fdyMac MBS”) in ten offerings pursuant to two
registration statementand related proggtuses and prospectuspplements (the “Offering
Documents”). Lead Plaintiffs Wyonig State Treasurer and WyamgiRetirement System allege
that the Certificates were issugdrsuant to materially misleaj Offering Documents in violation
of Sections 11, 12(a)(2)nd 15 of the Securities Aof 1933 (the “Securities Act).The matter is
before the Court on Lead Plaintiffs’ motionrfalass certification, appointment as class

representatives, and apponent of class counsél.

Relevant excerpts of the Offering Documents can be found at Egan Decl. [DI 277], Exs.
C, D. The Offering Documents includd-abruary 24, 2006 regriation statement (the
“2006 Registration Statement™y, February 14, 2007 regiation statement (the “2007
Registration Statement”, collectively the “Retgation Statements”), and the prospectuses
and prospectus supplements incorporated ther8eeSecond Amended Consolidated
Complaint (“SACC”) [DI 337], 11 1, 6.

15 U.S.C. §8 77k(a)[5771(a)(2), 770.

DI 276.



Background
The Parties
A. Lead Plaintiffs
Lead Plaintiffs werappointed on July 29, 2009\ yoming State Treasurer manages
more than $10 billion in non-pension fund asSet&/yoming Retirement System administers
retirement program$. Lead Plaintiffs allegedly purchased acquired Certificates in the ten

offerings pursuant and/or traceabdethe Registration Statemedts.

B. Defendants
The three groups of defendants still pardythis case include IndyMac MBS, the
Individual Defendants, andeHJnderwriter Defendants.
IndyMac MBS was a wholly-owned subgidy of IndyMac Bank, F.S.B. (“IndyMac
Bank”), which was closed by the FDIC on Jali, 2008, and is not a party to this cadadyMac

MBS was the registrant of the seciastcovered by the Offering Documehts.

DI 58.

SACC 1 20.

Id. 1 21. The two Lead Plaintiffs are refed to collectively as “Lead Plaintiffs” or
“Wyoming.”

Id. 1 20-21, Exs. A & B.

Id. 111 24, 26.

Id. T 26.
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The Individual Defendants are IndyMac 8B former officers and directot$ Each
signed at least one ofdalRegistration Statemerits.

The Underwriter Defendants are six fim#al institutions, all of whom were
underwriters in the offerings arall of whom are alleged to haymarticipated in drafting and

disseminating the Offering Documents.

Il. The Certificates

A Certificate is a type of mortgage baclssturity that entitleés owner to a portion
of the revenue streagenerated by an underlying pool of mortgage |d&=ad, of which were
originated or acquired by IndyMac Balk.These loans then were transferred to IndyMac MBS,

which bundled them into mortgage psalnd transferred them to trustsThe trusts issued the

10

The Individual Defendants include John OlinsRi, Blair Abernathy, Lynette Antosh,
Raphael Bostic, Samir Grover, Simon Hekriand Victor H. Woodworth. SACC 1 28-34.

The Court is aware that a motion currentipénding for preliminary approval of a partial
settlement between plaintiffs and the Indiv@l Defendants. This motion seeks approval
also of a settlement clasSeeDI 363.

11
Id.
12

Id. 19 38-48. The Underwriter Defendants still p&otthis case are €dit Suisse Securities
(USA) LLC, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Margan Securities In, Morgan Stanley
& Co., Inc., RBS Securities Inc. (f/k/a &mnwich Capital Markets, Inc.), and UBS
Securities LLC.See als®l 294, at 9 n.1.

13
Id. § 63.
14
Id. 1 64.

15

Id. 1 66.
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Certificates to IndyMac MB&, which sold them to the Underiter Defendant(s), which in turn
offered them to investors.
The Certificates’ ratings have declinedcgnheir initial offerings, and the percentage
of loans in the pools underlying each Certificate trest defaulted is alleged to have increased as

well .18

[I. The Second Amended Consolidated Complaint

The SACC? alleges violations of Sections 112(a)(2,) and 15 of the Securities Act,
based on Wyoming'’s claims thiie Offering Documents mislgalirchasers of the Certificates by
stating that IndyMac Bank evated information about bomers’ income, assets, and
employment® Relying heavily on two independent repéHé/yoming alleges that these statements

were false and misleading because IndyMac Batkally had abandoned itederwriting standards

16
Id. § 76.
17
Id. 1 77.
18
Id. 1 191, Exs. E-G.
19

The SACC is substantially édtical to the Amended Consolidated Complaint filed on
October 29, 2009SeeDI 131. It varies only insofar asadds Philadelphia and Detroit as
plaintiffs-intervenors SeeDI 341 (clarifying why SACC was filed after a motion to amend
the complaint was denied).

20
Id. 11 112-122, 221-50.

21

The reports were written by the Treasury Departt Office of Inspector General (“OIG”)
and an entity referred to as “CRL.3eeOIG, Audit Report (O1G-09-032%afety and
Soundness: Material Loss Review of IndyMac Bank,, Fe&Bruary 26, 2009, at 2, 7,
available at http://treasury.gov/ingztor-general/audit-ports/2009/aj09032.pdf (the
“OIG Report”).
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and instead had “rapidly approved” mortgage Id&mpeople with poor cratlor those who did not
have the ability to repay the loarf.” This allegedly made the Certificates “far riskier than
represented . . . [andpt equivalent to otheénvestments with the same credit ratidg).WWyoming
alleges that borrowers defaulten the mortgage loans underlying tbertificates and that the value
of the Certificates decreas&dCredit ratings agencies suhsently downgraded the Certificates’

ratings to “junk.*

V. Procedural History

On May 14, 2009 and June 29, 2009, es$pely, Plaintiff Police and Fire
Retirement System of the City of DetroitD@troit”) and Wyoming filel similar class action
complaints® Various parties moved to kappointed lead plaintiff and to consolidate the two
actions?” The Court named Wyoming as lead plainti§fanted the motion toonsolidate, and

ordered the filing of a consolidated class compl&intvyoming then filed the Amended

22

SACC 1 8.
23

Id. T 16.
24

Id. 9 213-17 .
25

Id.q1 16, 214.
26

Police and Fire Ret. Sys. of the City of Detroit v. IndyMac MBS, Inc., &%Civ. 4583
(LAK); Wyo. State Treasurer v. Olinski9 Civ. 5933 (LAK).

27

See, e.gDI 10; DI 14; DI 17.
28

DI 58.



Consolidated Complaint (“ACC”) on October 29, 26G99.

The Court later ruled on defendants’ oot to dismiss the ACC, significantly
narrowing the scope of this litigatidh It dismissed claims as td &lut the ten offerings in which
Wyoming allegedly had purchase&ertificates, holding that thesvere the only offerings with
respect to which Wyoming had stiing to sue. The only substamtiglaims set forth in the SACC
that were allowed to proceed reeghe Section 11, 12(a)(2n@&l15 claims based on IndyMac Bank’s
alleged abandonment o§itinderwriting standards.

Plaintiffs City of Philadelpta Board of Pensions andtikement (“Philadelphia”) and
Detroit moved to intervene as to certain affigs which Wyoming haaot purchased and as to
which Wyoming’s claims therefore had been dismiséethe Court grantethese motions in part
and denied them in part, andilatelphia and Detroit intervened to three additional offerings.

Lead Plaintiffs then filed the SACC on Auguk5, 2011, addig Philadelphia and Detroit as

29
DI 131.
30

In re IndyMac Mortg.-Backed Sec. Litig18 F. Supp. 2d 495 (S.D.N.Y. 2010n@dyMac
") .
31
IndyMac | 718 F. Supp. 2d at 500-02, 508. The moto dismiss was granted with respect
to claims based on appraisals practices, loan-to-value-ratidsatings methodology.

Claims against certain individuals, alleégenderwriters, and ratings agencies were
dismissed in part imdyMac | and in part in an earlier ordegeeDI 195.

32

DI 202. Several other parties filenotions to intervene as weeeDI 202; DI 219; DI
237.

33

See In re IndyMac Mtyg.-Backed Sec. Litig793 F. Supp. 2d 637 (S.D.N.Y. 2011)
(“IndyMac I1") .



plaintiffs-intervenors, but otherwise leagi the substance ofetallegations unchangéd.

V. The Present Motion
Wyoming moves for an order certifig the following proposed class:
“All persons or entities Wwo purchased or otherwisegaired beneficial interests in
Certificates offered to the public in XDfferings (‘Offering$) . . . pursuant or
traceable to IndyMac MBS Registrationatements dated February 24, 2006, as
amended and/or Febmyal4, 2007, as amended (“Regidion Statements”) . . . and
the Prospectuses and Prospectus Supplemssoesd thereunder for the Offerings and
incorporated by reference (collectivelwith the Registration Statements, the
‘Offering Documents’) and who weamaged thereby (the ‘Class®.”

Wyoming moves also to be appadtclass representatives and soiant to Rule 23(g), for approval

of its counsel, Berman DeValerio, as class coufisBefendants oppose theotion, principally by

asserting that Wyoming has failed to satiBiyle 23(b)(3)’s requirenm¢és of predominance and

superiority.

Discussion

Legal Standards

Before certifying a class, a district coigtobliged to condua “rigorous analysis”

34

SeeDI 337; DI 341.

Lead Plaintiffs’ motion for class certificatiovas filed before the Court decided the motions

to intervene. Accordingly, the briefing ¢ime class certification motion does not address
the three offerings purchased by plaintiffs-intervenors Philadelphia and Detroit. The Court
therefore does not consider those offerings in deciding this motion.

35
DI 276, at 2.

36

Id. The lengthy pendency of this motion i®ault of the Court having awaited the outcome
of an appeal raising similar issues in another case.
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to determine whether the plaintiffs have sktid all of the Rule23(a) and Rule 23(b)(3)
requirements! It “may certify a class only after [it]... resolves factual disputes relevant to each
Rule 23 requirement and finds thalhatever underlying facts ardeeant to a particular Rule 23
requirement have beentalished and is persuaded to rule, based on the relevant facts and the
applicable legal standard, that the requirement is fhefThe burden of demonstrating by a
preponderance of the evidence thtiase requirements have been met, moreover, rests with the
moving party®® Nevertheless, courts in this and other districts havethatguits alleging violations

of Sections 11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the Seasithct are “especially amenable” to class action

certification and resolutioff.

I. Rule 23(a) Requirements
The prerequisites to any class certification are that:
“(1) the class is so numerotigat joinder of all memberis impracticable, (2) there

are questions of law or fact common to ttess, (3) the claimgr defenses of the
representative parties are typical of themkabor defenses of the class, and (4) the

37

In re Initial Pub. Offerings Sec. Litigd71 F.3d 24, 41 (2d Cir. 2006)1‘re IPOI"); Inre
Parmalat Sec. Litig.No. 04 MD 1653 (LAK), 2008 WL 3895539, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Aug.
21, 2008).

38
Inre IPOI, 471 F.3d at 41.
39

See Teamsters Local 445 Freight Div. Pension Fund v. Bombardier5#&F.3d 196,
201-03 (2d Cir. 2008).

40

E.g, Pub. Emps.’ Ret. Sys. of Miss. v. Merrill Lynch & Co.,,I2¢7 F.R.D. 97, 101
(S.D.N.Y. 2011) (Pub. Emps. v. Merril) (citing Achem Prods., Inc. v. Winds&21 U.S.
591, 625 (1997)in re WorldCom, Inc. Sec. Litig219 F.R.D. 267 (S.D.N.Y. 2003)).
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representative parties will fairly and adetgiya protect the interests of the clags.”

Numerosity

Rule 23(a)’s first requirementumerosity, generally jsresumed “at a level of 40

members,* and may be found where “the number afssl members is sufficiently large so that

joinder . .

. would make litigation needlessly complicated and ineffictérilimerosity is

appropriately found where “thpinder of all [classimembers is impracticablé?” Moreover,

decisions in this district hawncluded that a class may betified even where certain sub-groups

of that class do not meet the presumptive 40-member requirément.

Here, Wyoming has demonstrated thateheme “at least 714 unique investors who

purchased or otherwise acquiredi@ieates in the 10 Offerings’® Defendants’ own expert has

indicated that there were at least #@dstors in all but ta of the offerings! 39 potential members

41

42

43

44

45

46

47

FeED.R.Civ.P.23(a).

Consol. Rail Corpv. Hyde Park47 F.3d 473, 483 (2d Cir. 1995).

Banyai v. Mazur205 F.R.D. 160, 163 (S.D.N.Y. 2002).

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(1).

See Pub. Emps v. MertiR77 F.R.D. at 105 (certifyingass where one offering at issue
had only 36 investorsjee also New Castle v. Yonkers Contracting £3i F.R.D. 38, 41
(S.D.N.Y. 1990) (certifying class with total of 36 potential members).

DI 279, at 15-16; Egan Decl., Ex. E, Report @& P. Feinstein, A (“Feinstein Rep.”)
19 21, 74-79.

Levallee Decl. [DI 301], Ex. 4, Rebuttal ReportSitven P. Feinstein, Ph.D. (“Feinstein
Reb.”) 11 108, 117 (noting that defendantgexrt Dr. Torous stat that one offering,
INDX 2006 AR-15 had “39 distindnvestors” but that this estimate did “not include 18
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in another, and 22 in the fin&l.

In this case, it would be impracticaldeny certification on the basis that two of the

offerings in question didot meet the 40-member presumptiorele- especially given that one of

them is short, if at all, by jusine member. There are more tR@ members in the class. Denying

class certification for lack of numerosity in aletbircumstances would present a considerable strain

with no commensurate benefit. The rarosity requirement is satisfied.

B.

Commonality, Typicality, anddequacy of Representation

The requirements of commonality, typicgliand adequacy of representation are

closely related?

48

49

transactions” that might identify other irsters); Levallee Decl., Ex. 11 (identifying 22
class members who purchased INDX 2006-AR); DI 300, at 20 n.45 (elaborating
arguments why INDX 2006-AR11 may have 40mfiers). In any event, Wyoming does
not have standing to assert claims abNibX 2006 AR-11 for reasons discussed in Part
I1.B, and so claims as to that offering are dismissed.

Feinstein Reb. § 117.

This and other courts have rejected the aentrthat numerosity must be established on a
tranche-by-tranche basiSee Tsereteli. Residential Asset Securitization Trust 2008-A8,
No. 08 Civ. 10637 (LAK), DI 100, at 9 & n.4Bub. Emps.’ Ret. Sys. of Miss. v. Goldman
Sachs Grp., IngNo. 09 Civ. 1110 (HB), 2012 WL 336146, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Feb 3, 2012)
(“Pub. Emps. v. Goldman Sath§The invocation of tranches as a means to defeat class
certification has failed in similar cases and fails here.” (ciol. Emps. v. Merrill277
F.R.D. at 109in re Dynex Capital, Inc. Sec. LitigNo. 05 Civ. 1897 (HB), 2011 WL
781215, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 7, 2011)))\.J. Carpenters Health Fund v. Residential
Capital, LLC 272 F.R.D. 160, 163, 165-66 (S.D.N.Y. 201 NJ'Carpentery, aff'd 2012

WL 1481519 (2d Cir. Apr. 30, 2012) (noting tli@fendants could ntgrovide[] authority”

for a tranche-by-tranche numerosity requirenserplaintiffs were entitled to presumption
of numerosity, and rejecting similarguments for typicality as welBge also Fort Worth
Emps.’ Ret. Fund v. J.P. Morgan Chase & 0. 09 Civ. 3701 (JPO), 2012 WL 1788142,
at*7 (S.D.N.Y. May 15, 2012) (outlining recemaisions in this court rejecting tranche-by-
tranche requirement for class certification).

Courts have noted that all three requirem&sgsve as guideposts for determining whether
under the particular circumstances maintenaheelass action is economical and whether
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Commonality is satisfied where a single issiilaw or factisommon to the class.

It is “plainly satisfied” in a securities case where “the allegedapisisentations in the prospectus

relate to all the investors, gbause the] existence and matdyiaof such misrepresentations

obviously present important common issugsTypicality is satisfiedvhere “each class member’s

claim arises from the same course of evantseach class member makes similar legal arguments

to prove the defedant’s liability.”®® So long as the “plaintiffssaert . . . that defendants committed

the same wrongful acts in the same manner, d@galhsembers of the cs, they establish the

necessary typicality>®

The adequacy of representation requirernisemiet where “(1) plaintiff’s interests are

[not] antagonistic to the interest of other members of the class amda{&iiff's attorneys are

50

51

52

53

the named plaintiff's claim and the class clasns so interrelated th#ie interests of the
class members will be fairly and aplmtely protected in their absenc&éneral Tel. Co.

of Southwest v. Falcod57 U.S. 147, 158 n.13 (1982gesalso Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v.
Dukes 131 S. Ct. 2541, 2553 (2011) (“The coomality and typicality requirements of
Rule 23(a) tend to merge.” (internal citations omitte®ra-Bilt v. Chase Manhattan
Corp, 89 F.R.D. 87, 99 (S.D.N.Y. 1981) (“Thgpicality prerequisite overlaps with the
common question requirement of Rule 23(aaf#) the adequate representation requirement
of Rule 23(a)(4).”).

Wal-Mart, 131 S. Ctat 2556 (“We quite agree that for purposes of Rule 23(a)(2) even a
single common question will do(internal quotations omitted)).

Korn v. Franchard Corp.456 F.2d 1206, 1210 (2d Cir. 197®);re Prestige Brands
Holdings, Inc. Sec. LitigNo. 05 Civ. 6924 (CLB), 200WL 2585088, at *2 (S.D.N.Y.
Sept. 5, 2007).

In re Flag Telecom Holdings Ltd. Sec. Liti§74 F.3d 29, 35 (2d Cir. 2009gesalso In re
NASDAQ Market-Makers Antitrust Litigl72 F.R.D. 119, 126 (B.N.Y. 1997) (finding
typicality is met where plaintiffs “have thedantive to prove all of the elements of the
causes of action which would be presented byrttlividual members of the class were they
initiating individual actions” (citations omitted)).

In re NYSE Specialists Sec. Litig60 F.R.D. 55, 72-73 (S.D.N.Y. 2009).
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qualified, experienced and attteconduct the litigation>* It generally requies “strong evidence”
that the class representative’s “interests not antagonistic to those of the class.”

As with many other securities class actions, this case turns on the central issue of
whether certain statements and non-disclosures conmrthe Offering Docunmas rose to the level
of material misrepresentations or omissighsPlaintiffs here allege that (1) “IndyMac Bank
originated and/or acquired thisky mortgage loans that IndyMMBS then bundled together into
mortgage pools,” (2) “[pJursuant to the Offering Documents, the IndyMac Entities [and] the
Underwriter Defendants .. solicited, sold and distributed”dtofferings, and (3) “[tlhe Offering
Documents contain untrue statements of matéa@| omit to state material facts required to be
stated therein, or omit to state material $aoecessary to make the statements therein not
misleading.?’ Previous instances of similar claims ri§akave been found to meet the requirements
of commonality, typicality, ad adequacy of representatin.

Defendants’ arguments that these requiremleate not been met here focus on three

assertions: (1) no named plaintiff has standingss®# claims with respettd one offering and the

54
Baffa v. Donaldson, Luffki& Jenrette Sec. Corp222 F.3d 52, 60 (2d Cir. 2000).
55
Damassia v. Duane Reade, In250 F.R.D. 152, 158 (S.D.N.Y. 2008).
56
See, e.gSACC 19 7-9.
57

Id. 11 4-7. Plaintiffs allege also that thesdssions and misrepresentations in the Offering
Documents were substantially simil&eeEgan Decl., Exs. C, D.

58

See Pub. Emps. v. Goldman Sa@@d2 WL 336146Pub. Emps. v. Merrill277 F.R.D.
97, N.J. Carpenters Health Fund DLJ Mortg. Capital, Ing.No. 08 Civ. 5653 (PAC),
2011 WL 3874821 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 29, 2010Ng v. DLJ); NJ Carpenters272 F.R.D.
160 (finding Rule 23(a) requirements weretneit not Rule 23(b)(3) requirements).
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claims as to that offering must be dismisseply{g2oming delegated invasent decisions to parties
who had direct meetings withdyMac, subjecting it to unique defees, and (3) Wyoming is subject
to unique issues regandj materiality and damageés Defendants assert that these considerations
are sufficient to defeat a finding tyfpicality, commonality, or adequacy.

Defendants’ first argument regards Wyiagis standing to pwue claims as to
offering INDX 2006-AR11 (“AR11"). A party does nhbave standing torlmg a Section 12(a)(2)
claim where it purchased the secuiity private or secondary markétHere, Wyoming purchased
AR11 Certificates ten months after the initialesing and admits that @id so “in the secondary
market.®* It therefore lacks standing to bring a S@t 12(a)(2) claim as to AR11. The Court
previously determined that Wyang is time-barred from pursuindgsgction 11 claim as to this same
offering®? Accordingly, Wyoming doesot have a valid claim withespect to this offering under
either Section 11 or Section 12(a){2)While it is true generallyas Wyoming notes, that a lead

plaintiff “can represent class members with section 12(a)(2) claims despite the fact that it only has

59
DI 294, at 30-33.
60

Pub. Emps. v. Merrill714 F. Supp. 2d 475, 484 (S.D.N2010) (stating Section 12(a)(2)
standing is limited to “persons who haveedity purchased the sedies from underwriting
defendants in the subject public offerigg(and not in the secondary market?);re
Sterling Foster & Co., Inc., Sec. Litjg222 F. Supp. 2d 216, 244 (E.D.N.Y. 2002)
(“[P]urchasers in private or secondary netrifferings are precluddrom bringing actions
under Section 12(a)(2).")

61
DI 294, at 30; DI 300, at 17.
62

See IndyMac, 1718 F. Supp. 2d at 513 (holding Wyimm only had standing to pursue
Section 12(a)(2) claims as to INDX 2006-AR11).

63

This of course means that it does not have a claim under Sectiwhith, requires that a
party have a viable Seoti 11 or Section 12 clainseel5 U.S.C. §/70.
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section 11 claims® orvice versathat rule, if it may be so characized, does not applo this case.
Wyoming cannot represent classmieers who purchased AR11becatisiees not have any viable
Securities Act claim as to thaffering. Because no named plaintiff has a claim regarding AR11, all
claims based on that offag are dismissed from ithaction. This of course does not affect the
propriety of class certification ds the other nine offerings.

Defendants’ second argument is that Wyoming’s delegation of many or all of its
investment decisions to investmeaulvisors subject it tonique defenses. Quems as to what Lead
Plaintiffs or their investment advisors knewaagesult of meetingsith IndyMac, however, “are
insufficient to defeat” a finding &t commonality, typicality, cadequacy havieeen met “because
the nature of the claims that Ritffs must prove remains unchangéd.”The commonality,
typicality, and adequacy requirements may beimatsecurities class action based on something
as simple as acommonly allegedstégard of underwriting guideline&" Whether or not investors’
knowledge levels varied does not na the fundamental nature oéttlaims in the SACC that the
Offering Documents were materially misleadfg.

Finally, defendants argue that the issSi®ming faces in daonstrating materiality

and damages are unique and defeat a finding of commonality, typioakidequacy. The argument

64
NJ Carpenters272 F.R.D. at 165.
65
Id. at 167.
66
Id.
67

Defendants’ reliance on knowledge to defeasslicertification is discussed further below
in Part Ill.LA.2.1.
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ignores that materiality for Securities Act ohai is an issue subject to generalized ptd&imilarly,
damages in Securities Act claims aedculated based onssatutory formuld? so any differences
in damages awards do not defeat class certificgparticularly where, as here, they are “merely
speculative.” “[A] common course of condtiand a unitary legal theory for the entire class period”
is alleged, namely that the Offering Docungebntain materially misleading statements or

omissions, and commonality, tygility, and adequacy oépresentation are satisfiéd.

68

See Rombach v. Chargp5 F.3d 164, 172 n.7 (2d C2004) (materiality gauged by the
objective standard of wheth&any reasonable invest could consider the [misstatement]
important in light of adequate cautionarpdmiage set out in the same offering” and thus
is determined on a common basis for all class members (¢i@hgerin v. eBanker
USA.com, Ing.295 F.3d 352, 257 (2d Cir. 2002)N;] Carpenters272 F.R.D. at 168
(“[T]he very basic rule [is] that the matelity of a misstatement or omission under the
Securities Act provisions alleged here is judggdinst an objective standard . . . . and [ ]
Plaintiffs allege the same exact misstatemantsomissions are misleading as they pertain
to each tranche of the offeriridginternal citations omitted)).

69

Seel5 U.S.C. 8§ 77k(e) (“The suit authorized ungigbsection (a) of this section may be to
recover such damages as shall representififierence between the amount paid for the
security (not exceeding the peiat which the security waHered to the public) and (1) the
value thereof as of the time such suit wasulght, or (2) the price athich such security
shall have been disposed of in the marketieedait, or (3) the peee at which such security
shall have been disposed of after suit but tegicdgment if such damages shall be less than
the damages representing the difference éetwthe amount paid for the security (not
exceeding the price at which the security wHered to the public) and the value thereof
as of the time such suit was brought.”).

70

See Seijas v. Republic of Ar§06 F.3d 53, 58 (2d Cir. 201®ub. Emps. v. Goldman
Sachs2012 WL 336146, at *4.

71

Hicks v. Morgan Stanley & CoNo. 01 Civ. 10071 (HB), 2003 WL 21672085, at *3
(S.D.N.Y. July 16, 2003). The Court notiaat while the commonality, typicality, and
adequacy of representation requirements uRdde 23(a) address overlapping concerns,
the adequacy of representation requirement dififieifsat it “also raises concerns about the
competency of class counsel and conflicts of interdsalton 457 U.S. at 157-58 n.13.

In the present case, the Court is unconvinogdlefendants’ additional arguments that
Wyoming is an inadequate representativgee NJ Carpenter272 F.R.D. at 164-65
(finding claims as to possible differendestween class members on legal approach and
settlement strategies to be “largely conjeaftiand therefore na basis for denying class
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[l. Rule 23(b)(3) Requirements
A Predominance

Class-wide issues predominate “if resolutddsome of the legal or factual questions
that qualify each class member’s case as a gemaintroversy can laehieved through generalized
proof, and if these particular isssiare more substantial thaniggies subject only to individualized
proof.”"?

While predominance requires a more rigorous showing than does commonality or
typicality, it “does not require a plaintiff show that there are no individual issué€sRather, “[ijn
determining whether common questiaigact predominate, a cowstinquiry is directed primarily
toward whether the issue of liabilisfcommon to members of the classWhere issues of liability
are “common to the class, common questionieldto predominate ovéndividual questions’®

In determining whether the predominance requirgniias been met, cdarmust consider both

certification);Cromer Fin. Ltd. v. BergeR05 F.R.D. 113, 126-27 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (“[T]he
fact that conflicts among class members mayaighe settlement or damage stage of the
litigation does not require the dahbf class certification.”).

72

UFCW Local 1776 v. Eli Lilly & C.620 F.3d 121, 131 (2d Cir. 2018ke also Moore v.
PaineWebber, Inc306 F.3d 1247, 1252 (2d Cir. 2002).

73
NYSE Specialist260 F.R.D. at 75ee als®ura-Bilt, 89 F.R.D. at 99 (“[IJndividual issues
will likely arise in this case as all class action cases,” so to permit “various secondary
issues of plaintiffs’ claim[s] to preclude tification of a class would render the rule an
impotent tool for private enfoement of the securities laws”).

74
In Re Blech Sec. Litigl87 F.R.D. 97, 107 (S.D.N.Y. 1999).
75

Dura-Bilt, 89 F.R.D. at 93.
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affirmative claims and potential defenggs.

1. Relevant.egal Standards
To bring a successful claiomder ®ction 11 of the Securities Act, a plaintiff must

prove that:

“(1) she purchased a registdrsecurity, either directlfrom the issuer or in the
aftermarket following the offering; (2) ¢hdefendant participated in the offering in
a manner sufficient to give rise to liabfliunder section 11; and (3) the registration
statement ‘contained an untrue statemend ohaterial fact or omitted to state a
material fact required to be stated theminecessary to makiee statements therein
not misleading.™’

The elements of a Section 12 claim are that:
“(1) the defendant is a ‘statutory sellg2) the sale was effagated ‘by means of a
prospectus or oral communication’; and {8e prospectus aral communication
‘include[s] an untrue stement of a material fact or omit[s] to state a material fact
necessary in order tmake the statements, in thght of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading"

Section 12 therefore offers parties a means of reg@agminst any “statutorgeller” whereas Section

11 is available against “offering participant8.Liability under both provisionis limited in scope,

76
See, e.gMyers v. Hertz Corp624 F.3d 537, 549 (2d Cir. 2010) (“Itis . . . well established
that courts must consider potential deferis@ssessing the predominance requirement.”).
7

In re Morgan Stanley Info. Fund Sec. Li}i§92 F.3d 347, 358-59 (2d Cir. 2010) (quoting
15 U.S.C. § 77k(a)).

78

Id. at 358-59 (quoting 15 U.S.C. 8 (A)(2)).
79

Id. at 359.
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but strict where applicabfé.
Section 15 liability is derivative of dbility under Section 11 and/or Section
12(a)(2)®* Where a plaintiff dog not have a viable Section 11 or Section 12 claim, a Section 15
claim must fail as well.
Defendants facing Securities Act claitmsve several available defenses:
. A Section 11 or 12(a)(2) claim will rmetcceed where a defendant shows that
“the plaintiff knew of tle untruth or omission at the time or his or her
acquisition of the security?” Defendants similarly may avoid liability where
they prove that a plaintiff had actuar inquiry notice of the materially
misleading statements or omissions nibwn a year before its claims were
filed.?®

. Defendants may show also thateti®n 11 claim against an underwriter was

80

See Herman & MacLean v. HuddlesdB9 U.S. 375, 381-82 (198%&);re Morgan Stanley
592 F.3d at 359-60 (“[P]laintifferinging claims under seofis 11 and 12(a)(2) need not
allege scienter, reliance, or loss causation.” (citoghbach355 F.3d at 169 n.4)).

81

Section 15 states: “Every person who, by ootigh stock ownership, agency, or otherwise,
or who, pursuant to or in connection with agreement or understanding with one or more
other persons by or through stoawnership, agency, or otlwdse, controls any person
liable under Sections 77k [Section 11] or 771 [®ecl2] of this title, shall also be liable
jointly and severally with and tihe same extent as such controlled person....” 15 U.S.C.
§ 770(a). Accordingly, the Court does m@aldress Section 15's requirements beyond its
discussion of the Section 11 afidction 12(a)(2) claims.

82
See In re Initial Pub. Offering Sec. Litigl83 F.3d 70, 73 n.1 (2d Cir. 2007)('re IPO
11") (explaining that generally Section 11 liabilltg absolute” but if a defendant can show

that “the plaintiff knew of thentruth or omission at the time lois or her acquisition of the
security” it may avoid liability) (internal citations omitted).

83
See Dodds v. Cigna Sec., Int2 F.3d 346, 349-50 (2d Cir. 1993).
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brought by a plaintiff who “acquired ttsecurity after the issuer ha[d] made
generally available to its securibplders an earning statement covering a
period of at least 12 omths beginning after theffective date of the
registration statemen®” Such a showing then requires the plaintiff to
demonstrate reliance on the materiadstatement or omission alleged, which
otherwise would be unnecesséty.

. Underwriter defendants may avoid Becl1 and Sectiofh2(a)(2) liability
as well by demonstrating that thegnducted due diligence on the offerings
that they underwrote and believed based on reasonable grounds that the
statements alleged to be false weod misleading and that there were no
material omission¥.

. Finally, a Securitiedct defendant may avoiddbility by showing that the
loss of a security’s vatiwas due to something other than the alleged

misrepresentation or omissién.

84

85

86

87

15 U.S.C. § 77k(a)(5).

See In re WorldCon219 F.R.D. at 288-89 (noting thahere such an earning statement
exists, “the right of recovery under thisbsection shall be conditioned on proof that such
person acquired the securities relying on suctuerstatement in the registration statement

or relying upon the registrain statement and not knowing sifich omission, but such
reliance may be established without proof of the reading of the registration statement by
such person” (quoting 15 U.S.C. § 77k(a)(5))).

Seel5 U.S.C. §8 77k(b); T7)(2).

Seel5 U.S.C. § 77k(e) (“[I]f the defendant pravilat any portion or all of such damages
represents other than the depreciation in vafigeich security resulting from such part of

the registration statement, with respect to which his liability is asserted, not being true or
omitting to state a material faotquired to be stated therein or necessary to make the
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2. The Present Case

Wyoming asserts that predominance maydumd here becauske SACC alleges
“violations of Section 11 and S#an 12(a)(2) of the SecuritieAct” and that “to prove [these]
claims, Lead Plaintiffs and the Class mustver that [d]efendants mda untrue statements or
omissions that were material. These issuedgménate in this case and can be demonstrated on a
class-wide basis®®

Defendants’ primary arguments that goweninance has not been met here are that
there are individual issues regarding (1) inee&howledge, (2) inquiry or actual notice by certain
plaintiffs that would implicate the statute of ltaiions, and (3) investoeliance stemming from the
issuance of certain trustee reports. They argse thkt individual issues regarding liability and
damages for prospective class menstwho purchased the offerings at different times predonfthate.

Defendants here, as iFsereteliv. Residential Asset Securitization Trust 2008°A8,

focus their arguments on the reasoningNefw Jersey Carpenters HéealFund v. Residential

statements therein not misleading, suchtiporof or all such damages shall not be
recoverable.”). The burden of demonstigtihis is on the defendant, as the “risk of
uncertainty” in such instaes is placed on the defendant, not on the plail8d#e Akerman

v. Oryx Comm’cns Inc810 F.2d 336, 341 (2d Cir. 1987Wnder Section 12(a)(2), a
defendant may assert a similar affirmativéedse when “the person who offered or sold
such security proves that any portion trod the amount recoverable under subsection
(a)(2) represents other than the depreciatioraine of the subject security resulting from
such part of the prospectus or oral comroations, with respect twhich liability of that
person is asserted.” 15 U.S.C. §(BY.

88
DI 279, at 25-26.
89
DI 294, at 12-26. This last argumentbgken up into several components, including

asserted differences demonstrating the réguaisity, materiality, due diligence, causation,
and damages. Each is addressed in turn below.

90

See Tsereteli. Residential Asset Securitization Trust 2008M®&,08 Civ. 10637 (LAK),
DI 100 (granting class certification inlaged MBS Securities Act class action).
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Capital, LLG* which denied certification of two classia related MBS Securities Act cases based
in large part on the plaintiffs’ failure to demstrate that the predonaince requirement had been
met. The courtthere held thaterences of disparities in knovdge within the two proposed classes
sufficed to defeat predominan®eDefendants’ reliance ddew Jersey Carpenterisowever, is not

persuasive.

I. Knowledge and Notice

Defendants’ first argument®nter on assertions that (1) certain class members had
individual knowledgeof the defendants’ alleged misstatats and omissions at the time they
purchased their Certificates, and (2) there likelyradwidualized statute of limitations issues arising
from actual or inquiry notice available at sormdiafter class members purchased their respective
Certificates’® They state that “[p]laintiffs and thedxpert are conspicuoustjlent on the issue of
investor knowledge?

Defendants ignore the fact that knowledgan affirmative defese, not a required
element of a Securities Act claim. In orded&feat predominance onigtbasis, defendants must

provide evidene that certairclass members had differing léseof knowledge regarding the

o1
272 F.R.D. 160 (S.D.N.Y. 20113ff'd, 2012 WL 1481519 (2d Cir. Apr. 30, 2012).
92
Id. at 168-71.
93

DI 294, at 13-19. Both Seotis 11 and 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act are subject to a one-
year statute of limitations, beginning when gi&intiff discovers “he untrue statement or
the omission, or after suchsdovery should have been mdyethe exercise of reasonable
diligence.” 15 U.S.C. § 77m.

94

DI 294, at 13, 18.



23

misleading nature of the statements or omissidren they invested suffent to outweigh common

issues?®

Defendants argue that Wyamg and other prospectivdass members likely had

knowledge or notice of the alleged materially m@gling nature of the Offering Documents. They

rely first on Wyoming’'scategorization of the class as astiag of many “soplsticated and/or

institutional investors® They contend also that some estive class members had the benefit

of or themselves were investment adviséthat some investigated the general “degradation of

underwriting standards?and that certain of them even pigtdd as early as 2005 that the housing

market bubble would bur§t. They claim as well that certain prospective class members —

particularly Western Asset Management ngpany (“WAMCO”) and Pacific Investment

95

96

97

98

99

SeeTlsereteliNo. 08 Civ. 10637 (LAK), DI 100, at Athdicating allegations of knowledge

or notice appropriately defeat predominance wladistrict court finds “specific statements
by certain class members. .. demonstrating specific individual kdgevtsf the underlying
loans and underwriting guidelines set fomhthe relevant offering documents’ub.
Emps.v. Goldman SacH80 F.R.D. at 139 (“[I]n those cases where common issues failed
to predominate because aflividual investor knowledge, dain putative class members
either participated in or had knowledge df #ileged conduct . . . . | am not persuaded that
the potential varying degrees of inveskmowledge here will create issues subject to
individual proof sufficient tooverwhelm common issues.ub Emps. v. Merrill 277
F.R.D. at 117-18 (fiding predominance is satisfied whenger alia, defendants had failed

to identify any evidence thatgihtiffs or their money managers “knew of false statements
in the Offering documents”NJ Carpenters272 F.R.D. at 168-69 (finding predominance
is not satisfied where, among other consitiens, “[d]efendants have mustered a good deal
of documentary evidence imputing knowledgdPlaintiff's investment advisors]”).

DI 279, at 5; DI 294, al3, 15; Serio Decl. [DI 289], Ex. B (identifying 28 of 714
prospective class members as “sophisticated”).

DI 294, at 14.
Serio Decl., Ex. DD, at 249-50.

Id., Ex. B36.
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Management Company, LLCRTMCO”) — obtained informatin from IndyMac Bank about such
issues as its loan underwriting guidelin®s.

Investor sophistication doemt alone defeat a finding of predominance in a class
action?®® Further, while demonstratj that certain class members apphisticated investors may
indicate that these class members were familiir the MBS market and even understood that there
were varying standards for andceptions to underwriting guidelinesed in the industry generally
and by IndyMac Bank in particular,dbes not establishdhany prospective class member likely
knew or had notice that the Offering Documents contained misstatements orpslsout
IndyMac Bank’s adherence to underwriting standdodshe Certificates at issue in this case.
Rather, the record indicates only that certamig@gamay have understoodattthere were problems
with the declining quality of investmerasid with underwriting guidelines in the MB8ctor as a
whole.

Defendants point also to newwries and complaints fden other courts, some of
which discussed MBS and the housing mageaterally and some IndyMac Bank specificathy.
They allege that these documents likely galass members knowledge or notice of the allegedly

misleading statements and omissions in the @igelliocuments. But this does not defeat a finding

100
Sedd., Ex. W, 1 3j]d., Ex. Y, at 40:11-13, 41:4-10; Olinski Decl. [DI 293], Ex. A, 1 3.
101

See Amchem Prods. Inc. v. Wind€#21 U.S. 591617 (1997) (Rule 23(b)(3) “does not
exclude from certification cases in whidndividual damagesun high” (quotations
omitted));Weiss v. Blect5 Civ. 6422, 1997 WL 458678, (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 11, 1997)
(“[S]ophistication in general says natigi about [plaintiff's] actual knowledge.”).

102
SeeSerio Decl., Exs. FF-Il (articlesld., Exs. KK, LL, PP, QQ (cases).
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of predominance eithé?® The only news articles citedahmention IndyMa®ank do not discuss
the Certificates, the Offering Documents, or anyhef facts that are the bases of the SACC. The
same is true of the lawsuitged, which are of two varietiesThe first group was brought against
certain prospective cd@ members in this caS8. Those lawsuits indicate, at best, that a few
prospective class members previouslyavalleged to have disregarded thaivn underwriting
guidelines. The second variety is a lawsuit filed in March 2007 against IndyMac Bancorf3: Inc.
that alleged, among othertigis, that IndyMac Bank had “lossed its underwriting guideline&2®
But that complaint made claims under the Sel@sriExchange Act of 1934nd did not claim that
IndyMac Bank had made material misstatemelntsitits adherence its underwriting guidelines.
Nor did it refer to the Certificates or Offering Docunteat issue in B case. lrany event, these
lawsuits all were publically aviable and therefore raise issuei$ any — principdy of knowledge,
actual or constructive, subject to generalized proof.

The record before this Coutierefore differs from that iNew Jersey Carpenters
where the district court identified what it feliere specific statements by certain class members

demonstrating individual knowledge of the struetofthe underlying loans and certain underwriting

103

See In re NovaGolRes. Inc. Sec. Litig629 F. Supp. 2d 272, 285 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (“To
trigger the duty of inquiry, the . . . warnings shtrelate directly’ to the misrepresentations
and omissions on which the plaifdibase their claims . . ..").

104

Serio Decl., Exs. PP, QQ.
105

IndyMac Bancorp, Inc. was the holding company for IndyMac Bank.
106

Serio Decl., Ex. LL, 139 (Amended complainTipp v. IndyMa¢No. 07 Civ. 1635 (C.D.
Cal.)).
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guidelines set forth in levant offering document§’ Moreover, as this @urt already has noted,

while the Second Circuit affirmedahdenial of class certification iNew Jersey Carpenterg

pointed out that “another inferenceuld have been drawn” in thedise but that the Circuit was not

“allowed to second-guess the trial court’s ceobetween permissible competing inferenc&s.”

The Court finds in this casleat the record beforedbes not contain enough evidence

that any prospective class member or memdiéely knew or had notice of the alleged

misstatements or omissions in the Offering Documihts.

ii. Reliance

While Section 11 plaintiffs geerally are presumed toverelied on allegedly false

107

108

109

NJ Carpenters272 F.R.D. at 169-70 (finding that centalass members “were extensively
involved in the structuring dhe [offerings at issue], includg in the review and selection
of the loans that baekl the certificates”).

N.J. Carpenters Health Fund v. RALI Series 2006-Q01 TNes. 11 Civ. 1683 & 11 Civ.
1684, 2012 WL 1481519, at *3 (2drCApr. 30, 2012) (quotingrch Ins. Co. v. Precision
Stone, InG.584 F.3d 33, 39 (2d Cir. 2009)).

The defendants iRub. Emps. v. Goldman SacNs,. 09 Civ. 1110 (HB) have appealed the
decision to certify the class in that casewdrat those defendants contend was a record
similar to that irfNJ CarpentersSee Pub. Emps.’ Ret. Sys. v. Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
No. 12-0614, DI 71 (2d Cir. filedune 13, 2012) (granting leavedigpeal). While that case
appears to be heading towards settlernrssg@Pub. Emps v. Goldman Sacio. 09 Civ.

1110 (HB), DI 139, the Court is mindful thaktie is some ambiguity in the law regarding

the standard for determining whether thedmminance requirement has been met in a
Securities Act class action due to indivitied knowledge defenses. The defendants in
Goldman Sachargue that a finding of predominance can be defeated where defendants
show that it is “likely” thatcertain class members had knowledge. They argue that the
district court has erred in gairing them to demonstrate that there in fact were certain
plaintiffs who had knowledge. This Court declineseach this issue, as it is immaterial

to the outcome of this motion. Under either standard, the Court is convinced that defendants
in this case have not demonstrated adequtitatyny asserted knowledge or notice defense

is sufficient to defeat a finding of predominance.
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and misleading statements in offy documents, this psumption does not exist where the plaintiff
“acquired the security aft¢he issuer has made generally a@éddo its security holders an earning
statementovering a period of at least rifbnths beginning after the eftae date of the registration
statement'® Defendants argue that the class “includesstors who purchased certificates in 2008
and 2009, well after the initial offerings of the certificatés.Thus, they contend, “investors who
purchased more thanyear after the initial &rings” each will be required to show that they relied
on certain trustee reports that wesgued to accompany the offerings.

As several courts already have held tfactual premise of Defendant’s argument
is flawed."*2 Only reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q, 8-K, 040-F, and 6-K, and annual reports made
pursuant to Rule 14a-3 of the Exchanget, Aare earning statements under the statéite.
Accordingly, defendants have rsltown that any class membenist entitled to the presumption

of reliance.

iii. Damages and Liability
Defendants argue also that individuasues predominate because the various
Certificates were issued puesu to different Offering Doauents and underwriting guidelines,

resulting in individualized issuaesf damages and liability for different class members. These

110
15 U.S.C. § 77k(a).
111
DI 294, at 19.
112
Pub. Emps. v. MerriJl277 F.R.D. at 114-15ge also In Re WorldCqi219 F.R.D. at 293.
113

Seel7 C.F.R. § 230.258(a).
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arguments are addressed in turn.

a. Falsity

Defendants first argue thatthiarious offerings werealsked by different loan groups
and that “deviations from undentinig standards may have occurieith respect to loans in some
loan groups, butot others.*** Further, they assert that t@ertificates each were originated under
“different loan documentation pgrams,” have performedifferently, were subject to differing
underwriting guidelines, and that each Certificagefore will requirendividual consideration to
determine if the pertinent offering documentmtained materially mishding statements and
omissions’™ The SACC, however, alleges that theotbhsures at issue for the offerings are
“uniform,” and have impactedll of the offerings similarly® Defendants have pointed to no
substantial differences amongetlinderwriting guidelines that applied to each group of loans,
alleging only that the questionwhether IndyMac Bank deviateafn those guidelines “may” have
a different answer for sonh@an groups than for othet¥. Defendants’ ownxgert, moreover, stated

that he “presumed” that the underwriting guidelingsild be the same across different loans and

114

DI 294, at 20. The parties agree that eafcthe offerings in question was backed by a
single loan pool.SeeDl 300, at 2; Serio Decl., Ex. Report of Walter N. Torous, Ph.D.
(“Torous Rep.”) 1 31.

115
DI 294, at 20-22.
116
DI 300, at 3; SACC 11 213-17.
117

DI 294, at 20.See alsd orous Rep. 11 87, 88 (notingregeally that “[tlhe underwriting
guidelines [for different kind®f mortgage loans] are likely to be different” but not
discussing the substantive differences in undiéng standards for the Certificates in this
case).
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offerings™® Wyoming, on the other hd, has provided evidence that the allegedly misleading

statements in the Offering Documents aboutitiierwriting standards wesabstantially similat?®
It asserts also that the underwriting standérdmselves were the similar across offerit S hus,
to the extent plaintiffare able to show théte statements or omissis regarding IndyMac Bank’s
adherence it its underwriting standards were fdtserecord indicates th#tis issue will be one
subject to generalized probt.

Courts in this and other districts haweifid that such substartg&milarity of the
allegedly misleading statements in Offering Docotaas sufficient for class certification, even

where class members purchased different offerings at differentfitndssues related to falsity

118

Levallee Decl., Ex. 1, Transcript of depasitiof Walter A Torous, Ph.D., at 102:16-17 (“I
presume that [the underwriting guidelines for banissue in this case] stayed the same,
but I'm not sure.”).

119

SeeDI 300, at 1-2 (spelling out similarities tsalleged misstatements and omissions in
Offering Documents for each offering); Egaedd, Exs. C, D (chart indicating similarity
of alleged misstatements different Offering Documentskee alsocSACC Y 112-120
(alleging the same).

120

DI 300, at 2 (“[T]he guidelines for how [thimans would be underwritten was the same.”);
SACC 1120 (stating that all allegedly “untstatements” in the SACC were false because
IndyMac Bank was “not following its stated umadeiting guidelines with respect to its
origination and acquisition ghortgage loans”).

121

SeeFeinstein Rep. T 45, 50, %nding that “the qualityof the underwriting process
impacts expected cash flow andiimn the value of [all] theecurities”); Feinstein Reb.
41 (indicating that certain of the offeringssgue in this case weteoss-collateralized, so
that “the performance or impairment of atpgailar loan may affect the performance or
value of the MBS certificates associated wiififerent [loan] groups”); Egan Decl., Exs. C,
D (quoting alleged misstatements in all offigrdocuments, and indicating their similarity);
DI 300, at 4 (identifying several sources, sashinternal IndyMac reports and statistical
compilations, that Wyoming asserts will allowgénerally to demonstrate falsity at trial).

122

See, e.g., Pub. Emps. v. Goldman Sa2f%1 WL 135821, at * 11 (certifying class of
purchasers of three offering®xib. Emps. v. MerriJl277 F.R.D. at 113-14 (certifying class
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therefore do not defeat a findinfl predominance in this case.

b. Materiality

Defendants next argue that there are imtliglized issues of materiality sufficient to

defeat predominance. These argmis overlook the fact that materiality in a case like this is

determined on an objective rattthan a subjective basil.is established wdre “the defendants’

representations, taken togethad in context, would haveisled a reasonable investdf>*“[W]hat

a ‘reasonable person’ would hakaown, and when, can begwen on a class-wide basi$®

Whether a misstatement or omission was maténelefore presents a common rather than an

individual issué?®®

C. Due Diligence

Defendants argue that there “were différ@mderwriters for each of the 10 offerings,”

123

124

125

of purchasers of eighteen offerings everevehthere were “some statements that [we]re
unique to [a] particular offering” in its offing documents, because “it is the substantially
similar statements common to each” setftdring documents “that are the clear focus of
the Amended Complaint”)n re Countrywide Fin. Corp. Sec. LitigNo. 07 Civ. 5295
(MRP), 2009 WL 7322254, at *6 (C.D. Cal. Dec. 9, 2009) (certifying a class of multiple
debt securities even where offerings “differed in size and timing”).

Rombach355 F.3d at 172 n.gee also Litwin v. Blackstone Group, 1,634 F.3d 706, 717
(2d Cir. 2011) (findingnateriality requires a “substantial likelihood that the disclosure of
the omitted fact would have been viewedly reasonable investor as having significantly
altered the ‘total mix’ of iformation made available” (citin@anino v. Citizens Utils. Cp.
228 F.3d 154, 162 (2d Cir. 2000)).

McLaughlin v. Am. Tobacco C&22 F.3d 215, 233 n.10 (2d Cir. 2008).

See Dura-Bilt89 F.R.D. at 94 (“The question of magdity, rather than being an individual
issue, is in fact a common issue.”).
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a fact giving rise to indidualized questions regarding @ther each “underwriter adequately
performed due diligence on a given offeridéf.”"Granted. But thesadividualized questions are
not as to matters that must peved by each class member. Tlaeg defenses that could prove
unique to each underwriter. Thus, as alleged diiense would not requinedividual plaintiffs to
make separate showings. &my case, “questions of law dact common to class members
predominate*®’ regardless of any individlized proof with respect to underwriter due diligence

defenses.

d. Loss Causatiomnd Damages
Finally, defendants assert that bttle affirmative defense of loss causatt®and
damages calculations for each class membédrdutindermine plaintiffsarguments that common
questions predominat&. Issues regarding individualized damages calculations generally, however,

are “not sufficient to defeat class certificatidf.”Furthermore, at leashe court has rejected the

126

DI 294, at 24.
127

FED.R.Civ.P. 23(b)(3).
128

Loss causation provides an affirmative deéeihs Section 11 and 12(a)(2) claims. It
requires a defendant to show that thereisausal link between the alleged misstatements
and plaintiffs’ loss.See, e.gln re Merrill Lynch 289 F. Supp. 2d at 43&kerman v. Oryx
Commc'n, Inc.609 F. Supp. 363, 368 (S.D.N.Y. 1984).

129
DI 294, at 24-26.

130

Seijas 606 F.3d at 58.
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argument that loss causation issues defeat predominance for class certification ptirposes.
The Court is convinced that issues sabjto generalized proof significantly

predominate over any individualizednsiderations that are likely to arise in this case.

B. Superiority

Finally, Wyoming must showhat resolving this dispatas a class action would be
superior to other means.

This consideration focuses on “(A) theagé members’ interests in individually
controlling the prosecution alefense of separate actions; (B)éeent and naturef any litigation
concerning the controversy altBabegun by or against class mard) (C) the desirability or
undesirability of concentrating thiggation of the claims in the pacular forum; and (D) the likely
difficulties in managing a class actioti” “In general, securities suits . . . easily satisfy the
superiority requirement of Rule 25

Requiring the prospective glamembers to bring individiLections, seek joinder, or

else sit on their claims, would be inefficient. &lar investors who weneot allowed to partake in
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In re Metropolitan Sec. Litig.No. CV-04-25-FVS, 2008 WL 5102303, at *2 (E.D. Wa.
Nov. 25, 2008) (“[Dlefendants have not dteand independent research has failed to
uncover, a Section 11 case in which a courtrhlesl that the existee of a loss causation
defense precludes certification under Rule 23(b)(33€§ alscAkerman 810 F.2d at 341
(finding that loss causation preseattheavy burden” for defendants).

132
FED.R.Civ.P. 23(b)(3).
133

Lapin v. Goldman Sachs & C@54 F.R.D. 168, 187 (S.D.N.Y. 2008ge also In re Blech
Sec. Litig, 187 F.R.D. 97, 107-08 (S.D.N.Y. 1999).
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a class action would be unlikely have the resources or the intrea to bring individual suit$®*
Further, the parties are aware of no invespmsuing individual claimsegarding these same
offerings*® Rather, of the investors that have cdorevard since the Court’s June 21, 2010 opinion
on the motions to dismiss, all tifem have sought to intervenether than file separate individual
actions'®

Defendants argue that as$aaction would not be superto individual suits because
certain of the prospective slemembers are “sophisticatetlfor institutional investors™® This
alone does not suffice to undena a finding of superiority®®

Defendants argue also that the supésiaequirement has not been met because

“Ip]laintiffs’ proposed clasincludes foreign entities® While certain prospective class members

here are foreign, a factor which can “counselgiagt a finding that the a$s action is superior to
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See Inre NASDAQ72 F.R.D. at 130 (“although institonal investors, when compared
to individual investors, magppear perfectly capable of seeking redress individually,
smaller institutional investors may not be williagd able to hire counsel to battle against
the collective resources of the nation’s largest financial industry firms.”)
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See, e.gDI 279 at 28.
136
SeeDl 202; DI 219; DI 237.
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DI 294, at 27 (citing DI 276, at 5)ee alsaSerio Decl., Ex. B (identifying 28 of 714
prospective class members as “sophisticated”).
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See Bd. of Tr. of AFTRA Reurid v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.269 F.R.D. 340, 355
(S.D.N.Y. 2010) (finding that the existence oftaér large claims “sufficient for individual

suits is no bar to a class when the advantafjesitary adjudication exist to determine the
defendant’s liability”).

139
DI 294, at 28.
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other forms of litigation,” tis is “not dispositive** Where, as here, defendants do not identify
which foreign entities’ home countrie®uld not give preclusive effecto this action, this argument
carries little weight*

The Court is persuaded thaincentrating this dpute in a class action in a single
forum has clear benefits that outweigh any issues raised by defendants. Allowing this matter to
proceed as a class action would awbie “risk of inconsitent adjudication” ad encourage “the fair
and efficient use of the judicial syste®? The Court can find no difficulties “likely to be
encountered in the management of this actiana@ass action apart from those inherent in any hard
fought battle where substantial sums aresatié¢ and all active partiese represented by able

counsel.3

The Court has considered defendantiklifional arguments and finds them to be

without merit.
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Ansariv. N.Y. Univ.179 F.R.D. 112, 116-17 (S.D.N.Y. 1998).

141

See In re Vivendi Universal, S.A. Sec. Lit@g42 F.R.D. 76, 93-94 (S.D.N.Y. 2007)
(excluding foreign class members because timhe countries wouldot give preclusive
effects to a class action).
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In re Marsh & McLennan Cos. Inc. Sec. Litiyo. 04 Civ 8144, 2009 WL 5178546, at *12
(S.D.N.Y. Dec. 23, 2009) (internal citations omitted).

143

Cromer Fin. Ltd. v. Berger205 F.R.D. 113, 134 (S.D.N.Y. 2001). Rule 23 provides
management tools that a court may utilize as a class action proc8edsgenerally
Robidoux v. Celani987 F.2d 931 (2d Cir. 1993)e alsoFeD. R.Civ. P. 23(c)(1)(C),
23(c)(5), 23(d) (setting fortbase management tools that allow the court to alter or amend
the class certification, to certify subclassesl 8 issue orders to help manage the cése);

re Flag, 574 F.3d at 37 (identifyingame management tools).
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Conclusion
Wyoming’s motion to certify the classyéfor appointment adass representative
and of class counsel [DI 276]hereby granted, except that classtification is denied with respect
to offering INDX 2006-AR11. Moreover, the claims as to offerofgthe INDX 2006-AR11
Certificates are dismissed.
SO ORDERED.

Date: August 17, 2012

=~ Letis Aéﬁp-lan/

United States District Judge

{The manuscript signature above is not an image of the signature on the original document in the Court file.)



